FILED
SUPREME COURT
STATE OF WASHINGTON
4/5/2024 3:46 PM
BY ERIN L. LENNON
CLERK

No. 39265-1-III

Case #: 1029357

SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

JUSTIN TOWNLEY,

Appellant,

V.

KELLIE TOWNLEY,

Petitioner.

PETITION FOR REVIEW

Amy Rimov Attorney for Petitioner WSBA #30613

Law Office of Amy Rimov 1312 N. Monroe Ste. 116 Spokane, WA 99201 509-835-5377

1. IDENTITY OF PETITIONER
2. COURT OF APPEALS DECISION
3. ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW 1
4. STATEMENT OF THE CASE: 2
5. ARGUMENT 4
5.1) Standard of Review
5.2) There is a conflict among Court of Appeals decisions needing clarification.
a) No Court of Appeals case addresses separation contracts specifically
b) Other Supreme State courts have resolved this conflict. 8
5.3) The Division III decision involves significant questions of Federal law and Constitutional rights 14
a) The right to contract is fundamental
b) No specific preemption exists
c) No Supreme Court decisions specifically examine private parties' right to contractually divide pay
d) Federal statutes do not preempt the private right to contract
e) Division III missed Mansell's message
5.4) This decision jeopardizes the public interest 28
6. CONCLUSION30

Table of Authorities

Cases Page
Abernethy v. Fishkin, 699 So. 2d 235 (Fla. 1997)
Freedom Found. v. Teamsters Local 117 Segregated Fund, 197 Wn.2d 116, 480 P.3d 1119 (2021)
Hayes & Hayes, 228 Or. App. 555 (2009)
Hisquierdo v. Hisquierdo, 439 U.S. 572 (1979)
Hoskins v. Skojec, 265 A.D.2d 706, 696 N.Y.S.2d 303 (3d Dep't 1999)
Howell v. Howell, 581 U.S. 214, 137 S. Ct. 1400, 197 L. Ed. 2d 781 (2017)
Jones v. Jones, 505 P.3d 224 (2022)
In re Kaufman, 17 Wn. App. 991, 485 P.3d 991 (2021) 7,17
Keystone Land & Dev. v. Xerox Corp., 152 Wn.2d 171, 94 P.3d 945 (2004)
Little v. Little, 96 Wn.2d 183, 634 P.2d 498 (1981)
Lochner v. New York, 198 U.S. 45, 25 S. Ct. 539, 49 L. Ed. 937 (1905)
In re Marriage of Kraft, 119 Wn.2d 438, 832 P.2d 871 (1992) 6
Mansell v. Mansell, 490 U.S. 581, 109 S. Ct. 2023, 104 L. Ed. 2d 675 (1989)
Marriage of Mansell, 217 Cal. App. 3d 219, 265 Cal. Rptr. 227 (1989)
Martin v. Martin, 520 P.3d 813 (Dec. 1, 2022)
<i>In re Marriage of Perkins</i> , 1 07 Wn. App. 313, 26 P.3 d 989 (2 00 1)

McCarty v. McCarty, 453 U.S. 210, 101 S. Ct. 2728, 69 L. Ed. 2d 589 (1981)
Poullard v. Poullard, 780 So. 2d 498 (La. Ct. App. 2001) 13
<i>Rhone v. McDonough</i> , 53 F.4th 656 (2022) 20,23,29
Rose v. Rose, 481 U.S. 619, 107 S. Ct. 2029, 95 L. Ed. 2d 599 (1987)
Selitsch v. Selitsch, 492 S.W.3d677, 687-88 (Tenn. Ct. App. 2015)
Shelton v. Shelton, 119 Nev. 492, 78 P.3d 507 (2003)
<i>In re Tupper</i> , 15 Wn. App. 1132, 478 P.3d 1132 (2020) 5,19
<i>Untersteiner v. Untersteiner</i> , 32 Wn. App. 859, 65● P.2d 256 (1982)
W. Coast Hotel Co. v. Parrish, 300 U.S. 379, 57 S. Ct. 578, 81 L. Ed. 703 (1937)
In re Weiser, 14 Wn. App. 237, 475 P.3d 237 (2020) 7,8,17,27
Yourko v. Yourko, 884 S.E.2d 799 (2023) 10,11,12
Statutes
10 U.S.C.S. § 1408
38 U.S.C.S. § 53 0 1
42 U.S.C.S. § 4 0 7
RCW 26.09.070
RCW 26.09.080

1. IDENTITY OF PETITIONER

Kelly Townley, Respondent on Appeal, asks this Court to accept review of the Court of Appeals, Division III decision filed March 7, 2024.

2. COURT OF APPEALS DECISION

Kelly Townley requests review of the portion regarding division of Military Disability Retirement Pay. No motion for reconsideration was filed. For a copy of the decision, *see* App. 1 - 10.

3. ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW

Should Washington Courts employ a separate preemption analysis in ratifying separation agreements than original state court decisions regarding military disability retirement pay?

Does the fundamental right to contract preserve a veteran's ability to contract their disability retirement pay, so long as it reaches them first?

Did Division III misinterpret the law in concluding there was no distinction between individual parties contracting and court action dividing military disability retirement pay?

Do other Washington state laws apply and take priority when it comes to contracting retired disability pay, rather than universally applying federal preemption principles?

Do other state supreme courts hold that federal preemption is inapplicable to the division of military retirement disability benefits by contract?

Does the Washington Supreme Court have a duty to determine the public policy to protect separation contracts that would otherwise be compromised and reverse the appellate court nullifying the mutual mistake instruction?

4. STATEMENT OF THE CASE:

Justin and Kellie Townley married in September 2003. Justin served in the Army and Washington National Guard throughout

their marriage until he became disabled. Justin eventually received medical disability retirement pay in 2018. App 1-2.

In March 2020, the parties entered a "financial agreement" which divided their income, assets, and debts. App 2. They agreed to divide the available cash flow equally. App 2, 25 and 34. The court found this constituted a separation agreement. App 2.

In August 2020, Justin petitioned for dissolution. At trial, Kellie asked that the financial agreement be enforced. Justin argued that federal law precluded the division of his disability pay and social security pay. App 2.

The Superior Court found the separation agreement to be fair at the time of adoption. App. 19, finding 13. After analysis of Division II cases, the court adopted the contract—dividing pay from the military disability funds, but not from the social security funds. App. 18-19. The separation contract contemplated disability pay as cash flow to both parties. App. 2, 25, 34. In the final documents, the court considered disability pay as spousal

support and Justin's personal entitlement, because it went undefined in the separation contract and by the parties. *E.g.* App. 10, 27, 29, & 31, 34.

Justin Appealed.

The Appellate Court reversed the Superior Court's decision on disability pay division, primarily relying on *Mansell v. Mansell*, 490 U.S. 581, 109 S. Ct. 2023, 104 L. Ed. 2d 675 (1989). To receive further relief, the wife was instructed to prove mutual mistake over the issue. App. 1-5.

Kelly Townley petitions for review.

5. ARGUMENT

The Supreme Court should review this decision for three reasons. One, the Court of Appeals lacks clarity and consistency in this area, leading to conflict. *See* RAP 13.4(b)(2). Two, a significant question of law exists under Washington law, Federal law, and the U.S. Constitution. *Id.* (3). And three, the public interest is jeopardized by this decision. *Id.* (4). We begin with the standard of review

5.1) Standard of Review

Questions on appeal involve the applicability of federal pre-emption to a contract and disability pay, which is de novo review. The burden of proof rests on "the party claiming preemption." In re Tupper, 15 Wn. App. 1132, 796, 805, 478 P.3d 1132 (2020) (citing Progressive Animal Welfare Soc'y v. Univ. of Wash., 125 Wn.2d 243, 265, 884 P.2d 592 (1994) and Wash. State Physicians Ins. Exch. & Ass'n v. Fisons Corp., 122 Wn.2d 299, 327, 858 P.2d 1054 (1993)). In family law cases there is a general presumption *against* preemption unless Congress has made known a clear and manifest purpose to preempt. *Tupper*, 15 Wn. App. 2d at 805.

5.2) There is a conflict among Court of Appeals decisions needing clarification.

Division II prioritizes non-community property laws over federal preemption within family law. The Court of Appeals Div. III treats preemption regarding judicial enforcement *the same* as

preemption over contracts in family law. The Supreme Court should clarify this conflation.

a) No Court of Appeals case addresses separation contracts specifically.

In its decision, the Appellate Court cited *In re Marriage of Kraft*, 119 Wn.2d 438, 832 P.2d 871 (1992) discussing the ramifications of *McCarty v. McCarty*, 453 U.S. 210, 101 S. Ct. 2728, 69 L. Ed. 2d 589 (1981). *Kraft*, now 42 years old, is the only prior WA Supreme Court case addressing state court limits in dividing disability pay as property, while honoring the court's duties under RCW 26.09.080 (making an equitable distribution given the parties' post-dissolution economic circumstances). *See In re Marriage of Kraft*, 119 Wn.2d 438.

But, here, the parties entered a separation agreement. Therefore, the trial court did not utilize RCW 26.09.080 and did not apply *Kraft*. Instead, the trial judge used RCW 26.09.070 (making an equitable distribution given the parties' post-dissolution economic circumstances) to consider the separation

contract. App. 18, Finding 2. *Kraft* does not address how a contract changes the equation.

The most recent appellate court case referenced by the trial judge, *In re Kaufman*, 17 Wn. App. 991, 497, 485 P.3d 991 (2021), was an action to enforce a prior decree stemming from a property settlement agreement dividing the husband's retirement pay, and ordering half his disability pay as permanent, non-modifiable spousal support. *Id.* at 502-03; App. 18, Finding 1. The trial court found the separation agreement to be a binding contract neither void nor voidable. *Id.* at 506. The Court of Appeals affirmed, referencing res judicata. *Id.* at 508.

The Division II case of *Weiser* brought principles highlighted in *Mansell II* to Washington. *See In re Weiser*, 14 Wn. App. 237, 884, 475 P.3d 237 (2020). The *Mansell II* case emphasized the U.S. Supreme Court's refusal to preempt all state laws and invalidate all orders that divide disability pay. In *Weiser*, the Supreme Court only pre-empted community property laws, not all state laws such as res judicata. 14 Wn. App. 2d at 897-98.

Although the exception for contracts was squarely before the Division II court in *Weiser*, the appellate court chose to uphold the trial court's decision under res judicata and did not address the contract issue. *Weiser*, 14 Wn. App.2d at 911.

Another Division II case, *In re Marriage of Perkins*, 107 Wn. App. 313, 26 P.3d 989 (2001), held that trial courts cannot compensate one spouse with maintenance equal to funds lost to disability pay. Such a semantics shift by the court violated both *Howell v. Howell*, 581 U.S. 214, 137 S. Ct. 1400, 197 L. Ed. 2d 781 (2017) and *Kraft. See In re Marriage of Perkins*, 107 Wn. App. at 324. However, *Perkins* is not a contract case.

None of the Washington cases squarely address separation agreements or other spousal contracts and disability pay. Appellate jurisprudence is thus inconclusive when applied to this issue. An opportunity exists to clarify the law in this area.

b) Other Supreme State courts have resolved this conflict.

In *Shelton*, the Nevada Supreme Court found that "states are not preempted from enforcing orders that are res judicata or from

enforcing contracts or from reconsidering divorce decrees, even when disability pay is in involved." *Shelton v. Shelton*, 119 Nev. 492, 496, 78 P.3d 507 (2003).

Further, the Nev. Supreme Court, in Martin v. Martin, 520 P.3d 813 (Dec. 1, 2022) recently affirmed its decision in Shelton.

The Martin court observed that:

Neither *Howell* nor *Mansell* confronted the intersection of 10 U.S.C.S. § 1408 and such contractual issues, and beyond the federal preemption in this regard, as *Mansell* observed that whether res judicata applies to a divorce decree in circumstances such as these is a matter for a state court to determine and over which the United States Supreme Court lacks jurisdiction. *See Mansell*, 490 U.S. at 586 n.5.

Nev. Supreme Court, in Martin, 520 P.3d at 818.

Nevada notes the Supreme Court's denial of certiorari for *Mansell II* per *Marriage of Mansell*, 217 Cal. App. 3d 219, 265 Cal. Rptr. 227, 233-34 (1989), *cert. denied*, 498 U.S. 806, 111 S. Ct. 237, 112 L. Ed. 2d 197 (1990). *Nev. Supreme Court, in Martin*, 520 P.3d at 819. Nevada further concludes that neither

U.S.C.S. § 1408 contains no specific bar against state enforcement of divorce decrees and field pre-emption should not apply in state's family law matters. *Martin*, 520 P.3d at 818.

Hoskins v. Skojec, 265 A.D.2d 706, 696 N.Y.S.2d 303 (3d Dep't 1999) held:

The Federal statute at issue does not restrict a recipient of disability benefits from entering into a contract with a spouse regarding the dispersion of benefits received. Therefore, the parties in this case who voluntarily agreed to an allocation of defendant's disability compensation shall be obligated to abide by its terms.

Id. at 7€7.

Virginia's ruling in *Yourko v. Yourko*, 884 S.E.2d 799 (2023) illustrates the difference a contract makes. The Supreme Court of Virginia found that neither *Mansell* nor *Howell* was implied or applied because neither case "can be read as addressing the enforceability of an indemnification provision in a contract." *Id.* at 804. The *Yourko* court observed:

Neither Congress nor the United States Supreme Court has ever placed any limits on how a veteran can use this personal entitlement once it has been received. In other words, federal law does not prohibit a veteran from using military disability pay in any manner he or she sees fit, provided the money is paid directly to the veteran first; indeed, it expressly permits such usage. See, e.g., 38 US.C. § 5301 (a)(3(B) (permitting a veteran to use disability benefits to repay loans, provided the payments are 'separately and voluntarily executed by the [veteran]).

Yourko v. Yourko, 884 S.E.2d 799, 804 (2023).

Yourko further found that Howell is only implicated when a court circumvents the USFSPA by ordering indemnification, but not when enforcing an indemnification provision the parties contractually agree to. Id. at 805. The Yourko court's holding states:

We expressly adopt the holding of the Court of Appeals in *Owen* that, with regard to the division of military retirement benefits, 'federal law does not prevent a husband and wife from entering into an agreement to provide a set level of payments, the amount of which is determined by considering disability benefits as well as retirement benefits." *Id* at 805. And further, "federal

law does not bar courts from upholding such agreements or from enforcing indemnification provision that may be included to ensure that payments are maintained as intended by the parties.

Yourko, 884 S.E.2d at 805.

The Pentagon home-state agrees that contracts are not preempted by statute nor the Supreme Court's rulings.

The Alaska Supreme Court agrees, concluding that *Howell* stands for state enforcement of settlement agreements, and that such enforcement does not circumvent *Mansell*. *See Jones v. Jones*, 505 P.3d 224, 230 (2022). Both *Yourko* and *Jones* reference 2 Mark E. Sullivan, The Military Divorce Handbook: A Practical Guide to Representing Military Personnel and Their Families, 670 (3d ed. 2019). *See* App. 35-40.

Decisions approving contracts that divide military disability pay are greater in number and longer in tradition than *McCarty* (contingent on the funds going to the veteran first). *See Selitsch* v. *Selitsch*, 492 S.W.3d 677, 687-88 (Tenn. Ct. App. 2015) (citing

cases from Louisiana; Massachusetts; Nevada; New York; North Carolina; South Carolina; Ohio; Utah; and Vermont). Cases from Oregon and Florida also approve contractual disability payments. *See Abernethy v. Fishkin*, 699 So. 2d 235 (Fla. 1997); *Hayes & Hayes*, 228 Or. App. 555, 565-66 (2009).

Touching briefly on the Louisiana case, the Court of Appeals dealt with an indemnification fact pattern similar to *Howell*, but like *Shelton* and *Martin*, found that Federal Law does not preempt state contract law, holding that "Nothing in either the state or federal law prevents a person from agreeing to give a part of his disability benefit to another. We agree with the trial court that 'the re-designation of pay cannot defeat the prior agreement of the parties. . ." *Poullard v. Poullard*, 780 So. 2d 498 (La. Ct. App. 2001)

The Supreme Court of WA should join these states in resolving the question: is enforcement of a separation contract dividing military retirement benefits preempted? To preserve the

fundamental right to contract and prevent public policy violations, the answer should be "no preemption."

5.3) The Division III decision involves significant questions of Federal law and Constitutional rights.

The Supreme Court should undertake review because at stake is the fundamental right to contract and federal preemption analysis. The right of spouses to divide military retirement benefits by contract is endorsed by the Washington legislature, and not prohibited by Federal Law.

a) The right to contract is fundamental.

Parties possess a right to contract, protected by the Fourteenth Amendment. See *Lochner v. New York*, 198 U.S. 45, 53, 25 S. Ct. 539, 49 L. Ed. 937 (1905) ("The general right to make a contract... is part of the liberty of the individual protected by the Fourteenth Amendment of the Federal Constitution."). However, the right to contract may be limited by the state in the name of public interest. *W. Coast Hotel Co. v. Parrish*, 300 U.S. 379, 392, 57 S. Ct. 578, 81 L. Ed. 703

(1937). (Washington State limited the contracting rights of employers and employees by passing a minimum wage law to protect public health and safety). *Keystone Land & Dev. v. Xerox Corp.*, 152 Wn.2d 171, 94 P.3d 945 (2004) (courts are generally willing to enforce contracts that do not contravene public policy.)

Per 25 Wash. Prac., Contract Law and Practice section 9:22. "A Contract which is not prohibited by the state, condemned by judicial decision, or contrary to public morals contravenes no principle of public policy" (citing LK Operating, L.L.C. v. Collection Grp., L.L.C., 181 Wn.2d 48, 331 P.3d 1147 (2014).

Separation contracts serve public policy by allowing married parties to amicably settle disputes. RCW 26.09.070. The Washington legislature prefers these agreements, making them binding upon the courts (unless the court finds them unfair at the time of signing). See RCW 26.09.070(3); Little v. Little, 96 Wn.2d 183, 192, 634 P.2d 498 (1981); Freedom Found. v.

Teamsters Local 117 Segregated Fund, 197 Wn.2d 116, 480 P.3d 1119 (2021).

Amicable agreements are so preferred that even those exceeding duties under the law are enforced. *See Untersteiner v. Untersteiner*, 32 Wn. App. 859, 864, 650 P.2d 256 (1982) (*explaining* "Nothing in law, public policy or reason prohibits a former spouse from voluntarily and formally obligating himself or herself to do more than the law requires in providing support for a former spouse.").

As recognized by one treatise on the subject: "It's one thing to argue about a judge's power to require under principles of fairness and equity, a duty to indemnify; that approach has been eliminated by the *Howell* decision. It's another matter entirely to require a litigant to perform what he has promised in a contract."

2 MARK E. SULLIVAN, THE MILITARY DIVORCE HANDBOOK: A PRACTICAL GUIDE TO REPRESENTING MILITARY PERSONNEL AND THEIR FAMILIES, 691 (3d ed. 2019). *See* App. 35-41.

The purpose of separation contracts is "to promote the amicable settlement of disputes." RCW 26.09.070(1). RCW 26.09.070(3) mandates that the terms of a separation contract "shall be binding upon the court." The only statutory exception is when the contract was unfair at the time of execution. RCW 26.09.070(3)

Therefore, not only is the right to contract fundamental, but it is specifically endorsed by the Washington legislature in this exact context: separation agreements. The Supreme Court should review to ensure constitutional rights are preserved, and the legislature's intent followed.

b) No specific preemption exists.

Only under "compelling circumstances" can a superior court's jurisdiction to divide property be narrowed, "such as when it is explicitly limited by the Legislature." *Kaufman*, 17 Wn. App. 2d 497 at 511 (quoting *In re Marriage of Weiser*, 14 Wn. App. 2d 884 at 905).

Supreme Court precedent consistently holds that general legislation from Congress rarely intends to displace state authority within the family law arena. Mansell, 490 U.S. at 587. Hence, preemption does not occur unless "Positively required by direct enactment." Id. (citing Hisquierdo v. Hisquierdo, 439) U.S. 572, 581, 99 S. Ct. 802, 59 L. Ed. 2d 1 (1979); Wetmore v. Markoe, 196 U.S. 68, 25 S. Ct. 172, 49 L. Ed. 390 (1904)). See also Rose v. Rose, 481 U.S. 619, 625, 107 S. Ct. 2029, 95 L. Ed. 2d 599 (1987)). Further, "[b]efore a state law governing domestic relations will be overridden, it "must do 'major damage' to 'clear and substantial' federal interests." Mansell, 490 U.S. at 587 (citing *Hisquierdo* 439 U.S. 572 at 581 and United States v. Yazell, 382 U.S. 341, 352, 86 S. Ct. 500, 15 L. Ed. 2d 404 (1966)). "A mere conflict in words is not sufficient." Hisquierdo 439 U.S. 572 at 581.

The Social Security Act is a clear example of preemption. 42 U.S.C.S. § 407 clearly prevents benefits from being transferred, assigned, executed, etc. Further, it specifically prevents

contracts from dividing Social Security benefits in divorce. *See Tupper*, 15 Wn. App. 2d 796.

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