FILED
SUPREME COURT
STATE OF WASHINGTON
5/20/2024 4:53 PM
BY ERIN L. LENNON
CLERK

Supreme Court No. 102935-7 Court of Appeals No. 39265-1-III

# Supreme Court of the State of Washington

In re the Marriage of:

Justin Townley,

Respondent,

and

Kellie Townley,

Petitioner.

### **Answer to Petition for Review**

Kevin Hochhalter WSBA# 43124 Attorney for Respondent

Olympic Appeals PLLC 4570 Avery Ln SE #C-217 Lacey, WA 98503 360-763-8008 kevin@olympicappeals.com

# **

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

### 5. Argument

A petition for review should be accepted only if the Court of Appeals decision conflicts with a published decision of the Supreme Court or the Court of Appeals; if the case involves a significant constitutional question; or if the case involves an issue of substantial public interest that should be determined by the Supreme Court. RAP 13.4(b). This case involves none of those things. The Court of Appeals correctly reversed the property distribution as pre-empted by federal law. This Court should deny further review.

# 5.1 The Court of Appeals decision does not conflict with any published Washington precedent.

5.1.1 Kellie's admission that no Washington precedent squarely addresses the issue in this case should be enough for this Court to deny review.

Kellie's petition correctly admits that the Court of Appeals decision here does not conflict with any prior, published Washington precedent. Indeed, there is no Washington precedent directly addressing the question of whether divorcing parties can circumvent federal pre-emption by agreeing to divide military disability pay. And those decisions that come close to addressing it are in line with the Court of Appeals decision here.

Kellie calls this an "opportunity," but it is not the kind of opportunity that this Court is in the business of taking. Rather, this Court allows for "rigorous debate

at the intermediate appellate level" as subsequent panels of the Court of Appeals consider the same issues. *In re Arnold*, 190 Wn.2d 136, 154, 410 P.3d 1133 (2018). If a consensus arises, there is no need for this Court to weigh in. Because of this possibility, judicial economy favors denying review at this early stage.

If subsequent panels eventually disagree, this Court will recognize the conflict and grant review.

Arnold, 190 Wn.2d at 150. If this occurs, the "rigorous debate" at the Court of Appeals "improves the quality of appellate advocacy and the quality of judicial decision making" and "creates the best structure for the development of Washington common law." Id. at 152, 154. But where, as here, only one panel of the Court of Appeals has had the chance to ring in on this issue, this Court should allow the issue to simmer for a while, to see if any other panels will disagree.

# 5.1.2 Existing Washington precedent actually supports the Court of Appeals decision here.

So far, other panels that have addressed related issues appear to agree with the Court of Appeals decision in this case. Kellie's arguments to the contrary are incorrect. First, an analysis of the Court of Appeals decision and the underlying federal law would be helpful.

The Court of Appeals correctly summarized the controlling case law on federal pre-emption and military retirement pay. Opinion at 3-5. In *McCarty v. McCarty*, 453 U.S. 210, 101 S. Ct. 2728, 69 L. Ed. 2d 589 (1981), the United States Supreme Court held that federal pre-emption precluded state courts from dividing *any* military retirement pay in a divorce. Congress immediately responded by enacting the USFSPA, which provided a "precise and limited" grant of authority back to state courts to divide "disposable retired pay," a statutorily defined term that excludes

disability pay. 10 U.S.C. 1408; *Mansell v. Mansell*, 490 U.S. 581, 588-89, 109 S. Ct. 2023, 104 L. Ed. 2d 675 (1989). Thus, the pre-emption found in *McCarty* still precluded state courts from dividing disability pay. *Howell v. Howell*, 581 U.S. 214, 218, 137 S. Ct. 1400, 197 L. Ed. 2d 781 (2017); *Mansell*, 490 U.S. at 594-95.

The Court of Appeals astutely recognized that *Mansell* determines the outcome in this case. Opinion at 1, 6. In *Mansell*, at the time of the divorce, the servicemember was already retired and receiving both "disposable retired pay" and disability pay. *Mansell*, 490 U.S. at 585. The parties "entered into a property settlement which provided, in part, that Major Mansell would pay Mrs. Mansell 50 percent of his total military retirement pay, including that portion of retirement pay waived so that Major Mansell could receive disability benefits." *Id.* at 585-86. Some years after the decree had become final, Major Mansell sought to reopen and modify the decree to eliminate the sharing

of his disability pay, arguing it was pre-empted by federal law. *Id.* at 586. The U.S. Supreme Court agreed with Major Mansell that division of his disability pay was pre-empted. *Id.* at 594-95.<sup>1</sup>

Like *Mansell*, Justin was, at the time of the agreement and the decree, already receiving military disability pay. Under the U.S. Supreme Court's decision in *Mansell*, division of Justin's disability pay was pre-empted, and the trial court was precluded from adopting the parties' agreement to divide it. The Court of Appeals correctly reversed.

Washington courts have strictly followed the U.S. Supreme Court's lead on the pre-emption of dividing

On remand, the California Court of Appeals held that, despite the high Court's clarification of the preemption, the final decree was nevertheless res judicata and there were no grounds for reopening the decree. *In re Marriage of Mansell*, 217 Cal.App.3d 219, 234-35, 265 Cal. Rptr. 227 (Cal. Ct. App. 1989). But because Justin has appealed directly from entry of the decree, no res judicata concerns are present in this case. Thus, if pre-emption applies, the decree must be reversed.

disability pay. In *In re Marriage of Kraft*, 119 Wn.2d 438, 451, 832 P.2d 871 (1992), this Court held, "The trial court may not ... divide and distribute the disability pay or value it and offset other property against that value." In *Perkins v. Perkins*, 107 Wn. App. 313, 318, 26 P.3d 989 (2001), the Court of Appeals clarified, "Federal law prohibits a state dissolution court from dividing such a pension [military disability retirement pay], and from distributing *by any means* any part of such pension" (emphasis in original). The Court of Appeals decision here is consistent with these prior precedents in applying federal pre-emption to the trial court's decree.

While *Kraft* and *Perkins* did not involve agreements of the parties, agreements *were* involved in the Division II cases of *In re Marriage of Weiser*, 14 Wn. App. 2d 884, 475 P.3d 237 (2020), and *In re Marriage of Kaufman*, 17 Wn. App. 2d 497, 485 P.3d

991 (2021). Both of these cases are consistent with the Court of Appeals decision here.

In Weiser, the court held that an error in applying federal law did not render the original decree void or otherwise subject to collateral attack. Weiser, 14 Wn. App. 2d at 906-07. The doctrine of res judicata required the trial court to enforce the original decree, even if it was in error. Id. at 911. Kaufman followed the Weiser analysis, explaining, "res judicata protected the finality of the unappealed prior order even where the trial court's enforcement of that order resulted in a property division that contradicted federal and state law because errors of law do not 'automatically open [the trial court's] judgments to collateral attack.'" Kaufman, 17 Wn. App. 2d at 511.

The underlying rationale of both cases was that the prior unappealed orders were incorrect at the time they were made because they violated federal preemption. *Kaufman*, 17 Wn. App. 2d at 512. The orders

were only upheld because of res judicata, a concern that is not present in this direct appeal. The decision of the Court of Appeals here is consistent with the reasoning of these prior precedents.

Because there is no conflict between the Court of Appeals decision and prior published precedents, this Court should decline further review under RAP 13.4(b).

# 5.1.3 Decisions of other state courts are irrelevant to this Court's decision of whether to accept review.

Kellie presents some decisions of other state courts, arguing that this Court should follow those decisions. But the decisions of other state courts are irrelevant to the question of whether to accept review of this case. A conflict with decisions of other state courts is not one of the criteria for accepting review under RAP 13.4(b).

Nevertheless, Justin will address some of Kellie's arguments. The cases Kellie relies on are factually

distinguishable. None involves a direct appeal from a divorce decree based on an agreement that divided disability pay at the time of the decree. Justin has only located two such cases, and both were resolved in his favor.

In *McMahan v. McMahan*, 567 So. 2d 976 (Fla. App. 1990), the servicemember appealed from entry of a decree based on the agreement of the parties to divide disability pay. *Id.* at 977. The Florida appellate court reversed the decree, holding, shortly after *Mansell*, "case law has now convincingly established that no portion of a military pension which is attributable to disability is subject to distribution for the benefit of the other spouse." *Id.* at 978. The court rejected the wife's contract-based arguments:

Finally, appellee's argument that this case is distinguishable from federal and state precedent reaching a contrary result, because it involves a contract between parties, is without merit. *Mansell* also involved a property settlement agreement

which required Mr. Mansell to pay his wife 50 percent of his total retirement pay, which necessarily included a portion of disability benefits. Despite the existence of this contract, the United States Supreme Court determined that federal law controlled, and that the wife was not entitled to any portion of the military retirement pay that constituted disability.

*Id.* at 979.

Similarly, in *In re Marriage of Babin*, 437 P.3d 985 (Kan. Ct. App. 2019), the trial court believed that pre-emption could be avoided because the parties agreed to divide disability pay. *Id.* at 987. The servicemember timely appealed the decree. *Id.* at 988. The wife relied on contractual arguments, asserting the agreed division was "no more objectionable than it would be if he decided to use that disability payment to buy groceries and gas at the local convenience store." *Id.* at 991. The Kansas appellate court disagreed: "Although creative, we believe this argument does not follow the intent of Congress, which is to ensure that

the disability benefit goes to the support of the veteran, not to the support of others." *Id.* The court noted that the U.S. Supreme Court in *Howell* had "overruled cases relying on the sanctity of contract." *Id.* (citing *Howell*, 137 S.Ct. at 1404-05).

Other state courts are thus in agreement with the Court of Appeals decision here in cases based on similar facts. The cases highlighted by Kellie, in contrast, are factually distinguishable. Many of her cases are *Weiser*-type cases rejecting collateral attacks on final judgments. *See Shelton v Shelton*, 78 P.3d 507 (Nev. 2003); *Martin v Martin*, 520 P.3d 813, 820 (Nev. 2022); *Hayes v Hayes*, 228 Or. App. 555, 208 P.3d 1046 (2009). These cases are unhelpful because they rely on the finality of the original decree, a fact that is simply not present in this direct appeal.

Those cases that Kellie cites as allowing parties to contract around federal pre-emption all miss important points that have been recognized by other

state courts. For example, some of Kellie's cases claim that the federal statutes do not bar a servicemember from using their disability pay in any way they see fit. But this is not true. As noted by the Michigan supreme court in *Foster v. Foster*, 949 N.W.2d 102, 112-13 (Mich. 2020), 38 U.S.C. 5301 prohibits servicemembers from assigning disability pay to another person. Under that statute, any agreement that gives another person the right to receive a portion of the disability pay "shall be deemed to be an assignment and is prohibited." **38 U.S.C. 5301(a)(3)(A)**; see Reply Br. of App. 15-17. Thus, the statutes specifically limit a servicemember's freedom to contract away their disability benefits, in keeping with the Congressional intent that supports pre-emption.

The Minnesota Court of Appeals refused to enforce a parties' agreement to indemnify a spouse for the conversion of disposable retired pay to disability pay, recognizing that *Howell* had overruled cases that

relied on such contractual arguments. *In re Marriage*of Mattson, 903 N.W.2d 233, 241 (Minn. Ct. App. 2017).

In response to an argument that the servicemember could do whatever he wanted with the disability payments once they were in his pocket, the court held, "Again, as recognized in *Howell*, state courts may not simply circumvent federal preemption by relying on arguments rooted in semantics. To recognize the legitimacy of such an argument would eviscerate federal preemption." *Id.* 

The Maryland appellate court recognized that, after *Howell*, it had become clear that

the veteran's ability under federal law to waive retirement pay for disability benefits, at whatever time his disability status might change, overrides (preempts!) any state law agreement he might have made, or state court judgment to which he was a party, relating to his military retirement benefits.

*Hurt v. Jones-Hurt*, 223 Md. App. 610, 626, 168 A.3d 992 (2017).

Kellie's argument that *Mansell* does not bar state courts from adopting an agreement of the parties to divide disability pay is not well taken. *Mansell* involved a property settlement agreement that divided disability pay. Despite the agreement, the U.S. Supreme Court held that such division was pre-empted. If the Court had believed that an agreement of the parties was safe from pre-emption, it would have held the parties to their contract. See *Abernathy v Fishkin*, 699 So.2d 235, 239 (Fla. 1997). Instead, the U.S. Supreme Court held that the decree based on the parties' agreement was pre-empted. The Court of Appeals in this case correctly concluded that it was bound by *Mansell*. The trial court's decree dividing disability pay was pre-empted, despite the agreement of the parties.

The Court of Appeals decision in this case was correct. It does not conflict with any prior published Washington precedent. Conflict among the decisions of

other state courts is not a reason for this Court to accept review. The Court should deny Kellie's petition.

### **5.2** There is no constitutional question.

This case does not involve a significant constitutional question. The only constitutional question Kellie raises is the "fundamental right to contract." Petition at 14. But this is the first time she raises any sort of constitutional argument against federal pre-emption. She does not attempt to demonstrate that the Court of Appeals made a manifest error affecting her constitutional rights. See RAP 2.5(a).

In any event, as Kellie acknowledges, the right to contract may be limited by Congress so long as there is a rational basis for doing so. *E.g., West Coast Hotel Co. v. Parrish*, 300 U.S. 379, 398, 57 S. Ct. 578, 81 L. Ed. 703 (1937) ("we again declared that if such laws have a reasonable relation to a proper legislative purpose, and

are neither arbitrary nor discriminatory, the requirements of due process are satisfied; ... and that though the court may hold views inconsistent with the wisdom of the law, it may not be annulled unless palpably in excess of legislative power."). The federal statutes at issue here cleared that low bar when the Court expressed in *Mansell*, "Our task is to interpret the statute as best we can, not to second-guess the wisdom of the congressional policy choice." *Mansell*, 490 U.S. at 594. Congress was free to choose to restrict servicemembers' rights to contract away their disability benefits while leaving them free to divide only their "disposable retired pay." See Id. Kellie fails to demonstrate any significant constitutional question for this Court's review.

The remainder of this section of her petition, from pages 14-28, relate to state and federal statutes, not to any constitutional questions. Her arguments on these pages do not demonstrate any grounds for this Court to

accept review under RAP 13.4(b). Throughout these pages, Kellie continues to misinterpret the federal statutes and the U.S. Supreme Court decision in *Mansell*. She asks this Court to re-do the pre-emption analysis already completed by the U.S. Supreme Court in *McCarty*, *Mansell*, and *Howell*. Those cases and their pre-emption analysis are binding on this Court. See *Howell*, 581 U.S. at 222 (the reasons stated for pre-emption in *McCarty* "apply a fortiori to disability pay."). This Court can safely disregard all of the arguments on pages 14-28 of the petition.

Because Kellie fails to demonstrate any significant constitutional question, this Court should deny her petition.

### 5.3 There is no issue of public interest.

Kellie also fails to identify any issue of substantial public interest. She argues that the Court of Appeals decision defeats the Washington legislature's intent for amicable settling of domestic disputes and that it frustrates the federal intent that disability pay is to benefit the veteran and their family. Both arguments are incorrect.

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